
 

 

MINUTES 

UNION COUNTY COUNCIL 

REGULAR MONTHLY MEETING 

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 14, 2025, AT 5:30 P.M 

103 W MAIN STREET UNION, SC 

 
 

Present: Chairman Phillip Russell, II, Councilman Danny Bright, Councilman John Glenn (via 

phone), Vice chair David Sinclair, Councilwoman Annie Smith, Councilwoman Carolyn 

Rutherford, Councilman John Flood, County Attorney Jennifer Williams and Clerk to Council 

Kindra Horne. 

 

Notice of the meeting and a copy of the agenda giving the date, time, and place of the meeting was 

posted on the bulletin board in the hall in the Union County Government Building and at the 

meeting location. A copy was emailed to the members of the Union County Council, the County 

Attorney, Daniel Prince at WBCU Radio Station, Anna Brown at the County News, to others 

requesting copies, and to elected officials and heads of various county departments and offices. A 

notice of the meeting and a copy of the agenda were also posted on the County’s website. 

 

Chairman Russell opened the meeting at 5:30 PM. Councilman Danny Bright gave the 

invocation and Vice chair David Sinclair led the Pledge of Allegiance. The Clerk performed the 

roll call with the following results: 

 

District 1 Danny Bright was present. 

District 2 John Glenn was present via phone. 

District 3 David Sinclair was present. 

District 4 Annie Amith was present. 

District 5 Carolyn Rutherford was present. 

District 6 John Flood was present. 

 

The first item on the agenda was for Council to approve the minutes from the September Council 

meeting. Vice chair Sinclair made a motion to accept the minutes as written, Councilman Flood 

seconded. The Chairman asked if there was any discussion, or questions. There was none. He 

called for a vote. The vote was unanimous. The motion carried.   

 

Chairman Russell presented service awards to the following County employees: Josh Woods 

(Maintenance Shop) for 10 years of service, Tabitha Lipscomb (EMS) for 5 years, and James 

Hazel (EMS) for 5 years.  

 

Chairman Russell called for any Board Appointments or Removals. There were no 

recommendations made for Tax Appeals Board or Building Code Board of Appeals. Chairman 

Russell called for appointments for the temporary Union Hospital Board and Council appointed 

the following by unanimous vote:  

 

1. Buck Peay: Recommended by Councilman Bright, seconded by Vice chair Sinclair. 

2. Roger Bailey: Recommended by Councilman Glenn, seconded by Vice chair Sinclair. 

3. Tim Svedlund: Recommended by Vice chair Sinclair, seconded by Councilperson Smith. 



 

 

4. Lynn Edwards: Recommended by Councilperson Smith, seconded by Councilman Flood. 

5. Kesha McIntyre: Recommended by Councilperson Rutherford, seconded by Councilman 

Flood.  

6. Tiffany Black Lancaster: Recommended by Councilman Flood, seconded by 

Councilperson Rutherford.  

7. Jeff Cannon: Recommended by Chairman Russell, seconded by Danny Bright. 

 

Chairman Russell stated that members appointed to the Temporary Board would be contacted to 

establish a meeting schedule to move forward with transferring ownership from the Union 

Hospital District to Union County; he reminded all of council to provide contact information for 

their appointee to the Clerk to Council.  

 

Chairman Russell presented a grant award from The SC Department of Public Safety for the 

Union County Sheriff’s Office in the amount of $22,920.58. The grant is reimbursable with no 

County match. Councilperson Rutherford made a motion to dispense with referring to committee 

and accept the award, Councilperson Smith seconded. All were in favor.  

 

Chairman Russell introduced Resolution 2025-08 to set the Tax Levy for the 2026 fiscal year. He 

allowed Auditor Brad Valentin to speak. Council was provided two options by the County 

Auditor. Option 1 provided for a rollback on millage to accommodate for reassessment. There 

were some items that could not be included in the rollback because millage was set by budget 

ordinance, for SCC, higher ed, EMS, UCCL, Economic Development, and veteran’s park. This 

option also included a CPI increase for the county created fire departments that had presented 

request to the Auditor’s Office by the deadline. Option 2 provides the same rollback on millage 

of County taxes and does not CPI for home-rule (county created) Fire Departments. The total 

County Levy would go from 174.9 to 157.8. Vice chair Sinclair asked Mr. Valentine what kind of 

funds would Buffalo generate with the CPI Increase. Mr. Valentine stated that they would receive 

around $5,000 if they get CPI. Mr. Valentine explained to Council that the Fire Departments set 

their budget in June 2025 but will not receive funding until July 2026. Vice chair Sinclair stated 

that he has spoken with Buffalo’s Fire Chief and the Board Chair, and they informed him that 

they need to replace a lot of equipment and that the increase was needed as they did not have the 

funds to replace everything that needed addressing. He stated that he would like to know that if 

ever needed to call a first responder, that they would come with the gear they need. Councilman 

Flood stated that he and Chairman Russell discussed the cost of the County paying for Fire 

Service. The cost was around $7 million a year. Chairman Russell stated that the lowest funded 

Fire Department was around $22,000 a year. He stated that it would only cost around $7 million 

if we decided to expand and upgrade like Lexington County did. Councilman Bright made a 

motion to adopt the Option 2 Resolution with no CPI Increase for home-ruled Fire Departments, 

Councilperson Rutherford seconded. Councilperson Bright stated that according to SC Home 

Rule, in order to request a millage increase the request has to come from the Fire Board not the 

Fire Chief. The Fire Board must vote to request the increase, then Council will vote on the 

request. Councilman Bright informed Council that there is no record that the Fire Boards have 

met and voted to take the millage increase before Council, therefore he believes the request is out 

of order. Councilman Flood asked how it was determined that the Fire Boards had not met the 

requirement for the request to increase. Councilman Bright stated that he spoke with a Fire Board 

member and requested minutes for the Boards and has not received them. Councilman Flood 



 

 

asked if he had only spoken with 1 board member out of the approximately 70 members of the 

Fire Boards. Councilman Bright stated that he requested minutes from all the home-ruled fire 

boards. Chairman Russell stated that Councilman Bright did make the request, and Council was 

provided documentation of the request. Chairman Russell said he has spoken with the majority 

of the home-ruled Fire Boards. Buffalo had a meeting and provided a letter signed by all board 

members. The remaining boards used typical protocol, which includes phone calls with the 

members because some boards do not meet monthly. This is the protocol that has been done in 

the past because they often do not have time to schedule special meetings before the request 

needs to be turned in. All of the boards are aware that there should be a point of order going 

forward with minutes and a vote. However, it has been done this way for many years. 

Councilman Bright informed Council that all of the Fire Boards are eligible to receive funding 

through a V-SAFE grant, which is approximately $14,500 to be used towards equipment. 

Councilman Bright stated that there is one Fire District with $80,000 in the bank and another that 

receives over $300,000 in revenue and has a history of donating tax dollars. Therefore, he asks if 

that fire district is going to request more tax dollars and then donate it. Councilman Flood asked 

if there was a fire district that receives over $300,000 a year. Councilman Bright stated that 

according to the budget that was adopted, that is correct. He restated that there is one Fire district 

with $80,000 in the bank. Vice chair Sinclair asked if that was after their yearly expenditures 

have been paid. He has spoken to the Buffalo Fire Board Chair and he said that after 

expenditures go out, they are left with approximately $60,000 that is used to operate until the 

next year. Chairman Russell stated that is correct, and that V-SAFE is part of a 2-penny sales tax 

from property insurance, 1 penny goes towards the State Fire Marshalls Office and the other goes 

towards Fire Departments and what is referred to as the 1% Fund. Half of 1 penny that goes to 

the State is used by Legislature to help fund equipment for Volunteer Fire Departments. It is a 

movable amount and is not always $14,500 but it can only be used for specific equipment. Vice 

chair Sinclair referred to Councilman Bright’s statement regarding the point of order for 

requesting the CPI increase. He asked if it was State Law that requires the order of the request. 

Councilman Bright responded yes. Councilman Flood asked Council to recall the approval of a 

ladder truck costing $1.2 million with the cost of labor to build the engine alone being 

approximately $400,000. The Fire Department is on a two-year waitlist, and he believes the 

money they have in the bank could be used for continuances and emergencies. Therefore, he 

does not mine the department having $80,000 in the bank. Councilman Bright stated that the 

same Fire Department is the one that has issues with donating tax dollars. Mr. Valentine stated 

that he does have signed documentation from all of the Fire Boards who requested a CPI 

increase. He does not bring the requests further without such documentation. Vice chair Sinclair 

asked Mr. Valentine if the documentation he received from the Fire Boards was enough to 

approve their requests. Mr. Valentine stated that according to SC Department of Revenue there 

has to be a request by the Board that says they wish to receive an increase, they are not required 

to ask for copies of minutes, that he does not do anything without the letter from the board chair. 

Councilman Flood asked if Mr. Valentine required all SPD Fire Boards to turn in the same type 

of documentation for a CPI Increase, Mr. Valentine confirmed that he did require it from them as 

well. Councilperson Rutherford asked if Council could be invited to the Fire Board meetings. 

Councilman Bright stated that you do not have to be invited, they are open to the public. 

Councilperson Rutherford explained that Council does not know when the meetings will take 

place. Councilman Bright suggested reaching out to the Fire Boards. Councilman Flood 

informed Council that Monarch posts their meeting schedule on their website. Councilman 



 

 

Bright suggested that Chairman Russell send out the meeting schedule to Council for the Fire 

Boards. Chairman Russell requested a roll call vote from the Clerk to approve Option 2 of the  

Resolution. The Clerk to Council performed a roll call vote with the following result: 

 

District 1 Danny Bright-Yes 

District 2 John Glenn-No 

District 3 David Sinclair-No 

District 4 Annie Smith-No 

District 5 Carolyn Rutherford-Yes 

District 6 John Flood-No 

 

The vote was 2 members in favor of the motion and 4 members opposed. The Resolution was not 

adopted.  

 

Council member John Flood made a motion to adopt the Resolution with CPI (Option 1), 

Vicechair Sinclair seconded the motion to adopt. Chairman Russell called for discussion. 

Councilmember Bright said that he wanted to point out that some wanted to twist his stance and 

say that he did not support the volunteer fireman, but that was far from the truth. He supports all 

of our first responders and thinks that is one of the most important things council can do. He 

feels our fireman are some of the bests in our community. Chairman Russell thanked councilman 

Bright and then requested a roll call vote. The Clerk to Council performed a roll call vote with 

the following results:  

 

District 1 Danny Bright-No 

District 2 John Glenn-Yes 

District 3 David Sinclair-Yes 

District 4 Annie Smith- Yes 

District 5 Carolyn Rutherford-Yes 

District 6 John Flood-Yes 

 

The motion carried with 5 members voting in favor and 1 opposed.  

 

 Chairman Russell introduced 2nd Reading of Ordinance 407 pertaining to the distribution of 

certain FILOTs received and retained by Union County, and to amend certain Ordinances of the 

County and the Union County Code of Ordinances to give effect to such direction. Vice chair 

Sinclair made a motion to dispense with referring to Committee and approve 2nd Reading, 

Councilperson Smith seconded. Chairman Russell called for discussion. There was none, he 

called for a vote. The vote to approve 2nd reading was unanimous and the motion carried.  

 

Chairman Russell introduced 2nd Reading of Ordinance 408 that authorizes the execution and 

delivery of a Special Source Revenue Credit Agreement between Union County and Gestamp 

with respect to certain property in the County, pursuant to which the County will agree to 

provide certain Special Source Revenue Credits. Councilperson Rutherford made a motion to 

dispense with referring to Committee and approve 2nd Reading, Councilperson Smith seconded. 

Chairman Russell called for discussion. There was none, he called for a vote. The vote to 

approve 2nd reading was unanimous and the motion carried.  



 

 

Chairman Russell called on Finance and Administration Committee Chairman John Flood to 

deliver a Committee Report. Councilman Flood stated that the Committee recommended 

increase the Airport Hangar fees by $50 per month, as requested by the Airport Commission. 

This will be incorporated into the Hangar Lease Agreement adopted by County Ordinance. The 

Committee also made the recommendation to reclassify the County Finance Director position 

from classified too unclassified. Chairman Russell requested a second on the committee 

recommendation to increase the Airport Hangar fees; Councilperson Smith provided a second. 

Councilman Flood stated that he is not in favor of the increase, and believed that this is a hidden 

tax similar to the Building Permit fees. Chairman Russell called for questions, there were none. 

He called for the vote. The motion carried with 5 members in favor; Councilman Flood 

opposing.  

Chairman Russell requested a second to the committee’s recommendation to reclassify the 

Finance Director position; Councilperson Rutherford provided a second. Chairman Russell 

called for questions. There were no questions or discussion, he called for the vote which was 

unanimous. The motion carried.  

 

The next item on the agenda was to consider designation of proceeds from the sale of Trakas 

Industrial Park to Fine Organics America, LLC. Chairman Russell recommended that the 

proceeds be moved to Capital fund and used to upgrade 911 equipment and the roof of the Union 

County Courthouse. These requests were discussed during the Finance and Administration 

Committee Meeting. Vice chair Sinclair made a motion to accept Chairman Russell’s 

recommendation, Councilman Flood seconded. Chairman Russell called for questions. There no 

questions or discussion, he called for the vote. All council members were in favor and the motion 

carried.  

 

Chairman Russell recognized the Elected Officials present. Treasurer Debbie Robertson stated 

that Tax bills would be going out soon and that she hoped they would be good.  

Chairman Russell gave a brief synopsis of projects and events taking place in Union County. He 

informed Council that MycoWorks would be shutting down all operation in the United States 

after being bought out by a company in Spain. Chairman Russell stated that they are in contact 

with the owner of the MycoWorks building who is allowing the County to assist him in 

marketing the building for other industrial purposes. Vice chair Sinclair informed Council that 

the closure will affect Buffalo Fire Districts revenue. Chairman Russell agreed, but expressed 

that he hoped there would be a new owner soon. There were agreements made with the Company 

when they moved to Union, and claw backs will ensure that Union County will receive funding 

back. Chairman Russell informed Council on updates on the Buffalo Mill Pond, Airport runway 

lighting, Gateway signs, and the Union County Fair.  

 

Chairman Russell called on members of Council for announcements. Councilperson Rutherford 

informed Council of a Unity Event taking place on November 1st from 2-4 at the Union County 

Courthouse. Councilperson Rutherford expressed that she hoped the event would bring the 

Community together.  

 

Councilman Bright made a motion to adjourn, Councilperson Rutherford seconded. All voted in 

favor.  

 



 

 

The meeting adjourned at 6:13 PM.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Phillip G. Russell, II, Chairman  

Union County Council 

 

 

 

 

 

Kindra W. Horne, Clerk to Council  


